

Region 2 Bylaws

(As approved on 5-23-17)

ARTICLE I: NAME AND PURPOSE

Section 1: Name

This organization shall be known as the Association of Texas Professional Educators Region 2 (hereinafter referred to as "the Region").

Section 2: Purpose

The Region is organized to promote the purposes and guiding principles of the Association of Texas Professional Educators, as defined in the State Bylaws. The Region is organized for the following purposes: to provide a framework and organization for implementing the State Association's programs and objectives; to provide leadership in assisting ATPE local units within the Region; to implement the programs and objectives of the state and regional organizations; and, to assist in the promotion of items of concern to Region members. No part of the net earnings of the Region Association shall inure to the benefit of any private individual, except that reasonable compensation may be paid for services rendered to or for ATPE affecting one or more of its purposes.

ARTICLE II: MEMBERSHIP

Section 1: Boundaries

In accordance with Article VIII, Section 1 of the ATPE State Bylaws, the Region shall coincide with the boundaries established by the Texas Education Agency (TEA) for Education Service Center Region 2 in its Texas School Directory dated October 1979.

Section 2: Membership

As stated in the ATPE State Bylaws, ATPE members within the boundaries of a region are members of that respective regional organization. As such, persons who have paid the prescribed ATPE state membership dues for the current membership year, who educate or reside within the boundaries of the Region, and who have not otherwise had their state memberships suspended will be members of the Region.

Section 3: Membership Year

The membership year shall run concurrently with the state ATPE membership year as established in the state Association bylaws, Article III, Section 3. Currently the state membership year runs Aug. 1 through July 31 of the following year.

Section 4: Charter Procedures

Each regional organization will submit a copy of its duly adopted bylaws and its officer list, upon amendment, to the ATPE State Office.

Section 5: Voting Rights

All professional, administrator, associate, student teacher, college student and retired members of the Region shall be entitled to vote when a matter is submitted to such vote. The only voting rights accorded to the membership of the Region shall be to participate in a Region Assembly, in the election of a region director and region officers, and to participate in referendums. No proxy voting shall be recognized.

ARTICLE III: REGION OFFICERS

Section 1: Region Officers

The officers of the Region shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary, a Treasurer, a Parliamentarian, an Immediate Past President, a Director, and other officers deemed necessary and elected by the region. No two offices may be held simultaneously by the same person.

Section 2: Tenure/Term

- a) All officer terms of the region shall run concurrently with the state ATPE officer terms as established in the ATPE State Bylaws, Article IV, Section 6. Currently the state officer year runs Aug. 1 through July 31 of the following year.
- b) The Director shall serve a term of office as defined by the ATPE State Bylaws, Article VIII, Section 6.

Section 3: Qualifications

All region officers shall be members of the Region.

Section 4: Election

The Region Executive Committee shall appoint a Nomination/Election Committee to receive nominations of candidates for all offices except Immediate Past President, and including that of the Region Director. The President shall automatically succeed to the office of Immediate Past President. An election may be conducted by US mail, e-mail or other means established by the Nomination/Election Committee, provided the election process, as described by these bylaws, is followed. Only nominations received at least forty-five (45) days prior to the date of the election shall be included by the Nomination/Election Committee on the list of the nominated candidates. Additionally, nominations may be submitted from the floor at the Region election site, or via write-in candidates in US mail or email elections. Thirty (30) days notice of the Nomination/Election Committee list of nominated candidates shall be given to the region members. The officers of the Region shall be elected by a majority vote of the delegates present and voting during the region assembly, or by a majority vote of the region members voting if the election is conducted by US mail or email. Each officer shall hold office until his or her successor has been duly elected and has qualified.

Section 5: Removal

Any officer may be removed for cause by affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Region Assembly, provided a notification indicating that there will be a vote on whether or not to remove an officer has been given to all members at least thirty (30) days in advance.

Section 6: Vacancies

An officer may resign by submitting a letter of resignation to the Region Executive Committee.

A vacancy in the office of President shall be filled by succession of the Vice President to the office of President for the remainder of the term. A vacancy in any other office, except that of Region Director, may be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by an appointee of the Region Executive Committee.

A vacancy in the office of the Region Director will be filled in accordance with the terms outlined in the ATPE State Bylaws, Article V, Section 7.

Section 7: Duties

The officers of the Region shall have and shall exercise the duties outlined in the ATPE State Bylaws, Article VIII, Section 5.

ARTICLE IV: REGION EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Section 1: General Power

Subject to these bylaws and the overall policy directives of the Region Assembly, the affairs of the Region shall be managed by the Region Executive Committee.

Section 2: Region Executive Committee

The President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, Parliamentarian, Immediate Past President and Director of the Region shall collectively constitute the voting members of the Region Executive Committee, and shall have duties as hereinafter described. The Executive Committee may not amend, alter or repeal the bylaws. Only the Region Assembly shall have that authority.

Section 3: Duties

The Region Executive Committee shall have and exercise the authority of the Region in the management of the Region. In addition, the Region Executive Committee shall have the following powers:

- a) Determine annually the number of members and appoint members to all standing committees. From the committee members so appointed, the President shall have the authority to designate the chairman.
- b) Appoint such special committees as considered necessary or desirable.
- c) Require each Region officer, including the Region Director, and all committees to submit periodic and annual reports to the Region Executive Committee. Such reports shall be subject to such action as the Region Executive Committee may deem appropriate. Annual reports from standing committees shall be forwarded by the Region Executive Committee to the Region Assembly, and the Region Executive Committee shall have authority to present all others as appropriate.
- d) Receive, review and present to the Region Assembly the annual report of the Treasurer and the auditor's annual report of financial matters of the Region. Following approval, the auditor's report shall be printed and distributed to each member of the Region Assembly at its annual meeting.
- e) Have final authority in setting the annual budget of the Region.
- f) Set the time and place of the annual, as well as any special, meetings of the Region Assembly and to approve the minutes of such meetings.
- g) Set the Region policy not inconsistent with the policies established by the Region Assembly and the State Association.

Section 4: Presiding Officer

The Region President shall preside at all meetings of the Region Executive Committee.

Section 5: Meetings

The Region Executive Committee shall meet at least once annually, as determined by the Region President.

Section 6: Notice

Notice of any meeting of the Region Executive Committee shall be given at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting date by notice delivered personally, by U.S. mail or electronic mail to each Region Executive Committee member, including the Region Director, at his or her address as shown on the records of the State Association. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail so addressed with postage thereon prepaid. In case of an emergency meeting, at least five (5) days verbal notice shall be given. Any Region Executive Committee member may waive notice of any meeting. The attendance of a Region Executive Committee member at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice to such meeting, except where a Region Executive Committee member attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted nor the purpose of any meeting of the Region Executive Committee need be specified in the notice, or waiver of notice, of such meeting unless specifically required by law or by these bylaws.

Section 7: Quorum

A majority of the members of the Region Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the committee members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Region Executive Committee, unless the act of a greater number is required by law or by these bylaws.

Section 8: Attendance

A member of the Region Executive Committee who misses two (2) consecutive meetings without just cause, as determined by the Region Executive Committee, will be contacted by the President concerning the member's absence. Absence of the member at the following meeting shall result in an immediate vacancy.

ARTICLE V: REGION ASSEMBLY

Section 1: Duties and Responsibilities

The Region Assembly shall be the supreme policy-making, governing body of the Region, giving overall direction

and mandating policy for the operations of the Region. In the event of conflict between action or policy of the Region Assembly and the Region Executive Committee, that of the Region Assembly shall prevail.

The Region Assembly shall:

The Region Assembly shall:

- a) Approve all changes in the bylaws of the Region.
- b) Elect all officers of the Region, unless such election is conducted by U.S. mail or email; and
- c) Establish appropriate policies for the operation of the Region.

Section 2: Composition

The Region Assembly voting delegates will include each region member in attendance at the Region Assembly who has registered his or her name in the Region Assembly register provided at the Region Assembly.

Section 3: Meetings

The Region Assembly voting delegates shall meet annually at the Region annual convention, which shall be held at a time determined by the Region Executive Committee. All members of the Region shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Region Assembly. Special meetings of the Region Assembly may be called by petition of one-third (1/3) of the persons eligible to participate in referendum or by majority vote of the Region Executive Committee. In the event of petition, such meeting shall be called not less than thirty (30) days after the Region Executive Committee received the membership petition.

Section 4: Notice

Each member of the Region shall be notified of the time and place of the annual or special meeting of the Region Assembly by U.S. mail, electronic mail or by an official publication, in which such notice occupies a prominent position, which has been sent to every region member at least sixty (60) days prior to the meeting. The Region Executive Committee, or such of its members as might be empowered by the Region Executive Committee, shall prepare and publish an agenda for the meeting. In the event the agenda includes a proposed bylaws change, a thirty (30) day notice to all members of the wording of the proposed bylaws change shall be provided.

Section 5: Quorum

A majority of the duly certified delegates who have been verified in attendance at the annual meeting of the Region Assembly or special meeting of the Region Assembly shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of delegates present and voting at a meeting of the Region Assembly at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Region Assembly, unless the act of a greater number is required by law or by these bylaws.

Section 6: Presiding Officer

The Region President shall preside at all meetings of the Region Assembly.

Section 7: Certification of Delegates

The Region Secretary shall be responsible for certifying and updating the names of the delegates in attendance at the Region Assembly.

Section 8: Agenda

If an item has not been placed on the agenda of the Region Assembly, any member of the Region may file a request with the Region Secretary to be heard at a time to be designated by the presiding officer and shall be allowed to speak not more than five (5) minutes.

ARTICLE VI: COMMITTEES

Section 1: Standing Committees

The Standing Committees of the Region may include:

- a) Nomination/Election
- b) Resolutions
- c) Legislative

- d) Bylaws
- e) Membership
- f) Services
- g) Public Information
- h) Minority and Diverse Population Recruitment

Section 2: Duties of Standing Committees

The Standing Committees of the Region shall have the following duties and responsibilities:

- a) **Nomination/Election.** To receive all nominations for region officers, to propose a slate of candidates for the Region Executive Committee, and to recommend for approval by the Region Executive Committee the rules to govern the election of region officers at the Region Assembly. These rules are to be presented to the Region Executive Committee prior to the date necessary to give notice.
- b) **Resolutions.** To review and/or propose resolutions to be considered by the Region 2 Assembly.
- c) **Legislative.** To research, draft, and promote legislation to be endorsed or opposed by the Region; to represent the Region in any activities involving legislation; and to monitor political activities that would affect the membership of the Region, the state Association or education in Texas.
- d) **Bylaws.** To present all proposed changes in the bylaws of the Region to the Region Assembly for consideration; to place the proposals in the proper wording for inclusion into the bylaws; to correct all grammatical errors; to combine proposals of like substance; to recognize authors of proposed amendments during the committee presentation to the Region Assembly; and to offer the recommendations of the committee regarding the usefulness and propriety of each proposed amendment. The author of a proposed amendment shall have five (5) minutes to speak before the Region Assembly in defense of the change.
- e) **Membership.** To promote the growth of the Region by the development and implementation of recruitment programs and materials.
- f) **Services.** To design all region-sponsored programs involving services for the membership of Region 2.
- g) **Public Information.** To recommend to the Region Executive Committee methods that would increase public awareness of the association's goals, objectives and accomplishments.
- h) **Minority and Diverse Population Recruitment.** To promote the growth of ATPE among urban-area educators, ethnic minorities, new teachers and student teachers by the development and implementation of recruitment programs and materials targeting these groups.

Section 3: Appointment

The members of Standing Committees shall be appointed from among Region members. A list of proposed Standing Committee appointments shall be submitted to the Region Executive Committee by the President. The Region Executive Committee will make necessary changes and approve the appointments.

Section 4: Other Committees

The Region Executive Committee shall appoint, from among Region members, such special committees as are considered necessary or desirable.

Section 5: Term of Service

Each member of a committee shall serve for one year from the date of appointment, or until the duties of the committee are fulfilled, unless the committee shall be terminated sooner, or the member be removed or cease to qualify.

Section 6: Chairmen

One member of each committee shall be designated chairman by the Region President.

Section 7: Vacancies

Vacancies in any committee may be filled by appointment by the Region President.

Section 8: Quorum

Unless otherwise provided in the resolution of the Region Executive Committee designating a committee, a majority of the whole committee shall constitute a quorum and the act of a majority of the members present at a meeting at

which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee.

Section 9: Rules

Each committee may adopt rules for its own governance not inconsistent with these bylaws or with rules adopted by the Region Executive Committee. All recommendations for implementation of programs will be the responsibility of the Region Executive Committee unless these bylaws specify action by the Region Assembly.

ARTICLE VII: CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS, AND FUNDS

Section 1: Contracts

The Region Executive Committee may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the Region, in addition to the officers so authorized by these bylaws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Region. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 2: Checks and Drafts

All checks, drafts, orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Region shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the Region in the manner determined by resolution by the Region Executive Committee. In the absence of such designation by the Region Executive Committee, the instruments shall be signed by the Treasurer and countersigned by the President or Vice President of the Region.

Section 3: Deposits

All Region funds shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Region in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Region Executive Committee may select.

ARTICLE VIII: BOOKS AND RECORDS

Books and Records

The Region shall keep:

- 1) Correct and complete books and records of account;
- 2) Minutes of its committee meetings, Regional meetings, Region Assembly, and Region Executive Committee meetings; and
- 3) A listing of the names and addresses of all Region members and local unit officers.

All books and records of the Region may be inspected by any member or his agent or attorney for any proper purpose at any reasonable time.

ARTICLE IX: FISCAL YEAR

Fiscal Year

The fiscal year shall run concurrently with the state ATPE fiscal year as established in the ATPE State Bylaws, Article XIV, Section 1. Currently the state fiscal year runs Aug. 1 through July 31 of the following year.

ARTICLE X: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 1: Rebates

Rebates received from the State Association may be used for expenses deemed appropriate by the Region Executive Committee and/or the Region Assembly.

Section 2: Procedure

Unless otherwise specifically provided, the proceedings of the Region and its local units shall adhere to standards of procedure established first in the State ATPE bylaws and second in *Robert's Rules of Order*, as the current edition now provides, or as it may be hereinafter updated.

ARTICLE XI: AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS

Section 1: Authority to Amend

These bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed, and new bylaws may be adopted, by a three-fifths (3/5) vote of the delegates present and voting at any meeting of the Region Assembly at which time a quorum is present, provided proper notice of the intention to alter, amend or repeal these bylaws, or to adopt new bylaws at such meeting, has been given in compliance with other provisions of these bylaws.

Section 2: Submission Requirements

All proposed amendments to these bylaws shall be submitted to the Region Executive Committee in writing and signed by the ATPE region member making the proposal at least forty-five (45) days prior to the announced date of the next Region Assembly.

Section 3: Effective Dates of Adopted Bylaws

Unless otherwise noted, bylaws that are adopted by the Region Assembly are effective immediately.

Certification and Signature

Minimum of two (2) signatures required.

Certified as the true and correct bylaws of the Region, as amended and adopted on May 23, 2017 and effective immediately.

This certification executed on the 15th day of June 2017

Cesarea Gorman 6/15/17
Region President ~~DIRECTOR~~ GR Date

Barbara Ruiz 6/15/17
Region Vice President Date

Region Secretary Date

Region Treasurer Date

Jessie D 6/15/17
Region Parliamentarian Date

Region Director Date

...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...

...the ... of ...

Proposed bylaws amendment

Amend to read:

Article X: Miscellaneous Provisions

Section 3: Dissolution

Upon termination or dissolution of the region, whether mandated by action of the Board of Directors or through voluntary action taken by the region, any assets of the region (including monies, physical assets and records) lawfully available for dissolution shall become property of the state association and shall promptly be returned to the state office.

Amended and adopted on 4/25/19 and effective immediately.

Cesarea Curman 4/25/19
Region President Date

Jacqui [Signature] 4/25/19
Region Vice President ~~PARLIAMENTARIAN~~ Date

Aminka Mendez 4/25/19
Region Secretary Date

Cordelia [Signature] 4/25/19
Region Treasurer Date

1947

1948

1949

1950

1951
1952
1953
1954
1955
1956
1957
1958
1959
1960
1961
1962
1963
1964
1965
1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971
1972
1973
1974
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989
1990
1991
1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050

2051
2052
2053
2054
2055
2056
2057
2058
2059
2060
2061
2062
2063
2064
2065
2066
2067
2068
2069
2070
2071
2072
2073
2074
2075
2076
2077
2078
2079
2080
2081
2082
2083
2084
2085
2086
2087
2088
2089
2090
2091
2092
2093
2094
2095
2096
2097
2098
2099
2100

2101
2102
2103
2104
2105
2106
2107
2108
2109
2110
2111
2112
2113
2114
2115
2116
2117
2118
2119
2120
2121
2122
2123
2124
2125
2126
2127
2128
2129
2130
2131
2132
2133
2134
2135
2136
2137
2138
2139
2140
2141
2142
2143
2144
2145
2146
2147
2148
2149
2150

2151
2152
2153
2154
2155
2156
2157
2158
2159
2160
2161
2162
2163
2164
2165
2166
2167
2168
2169
2170
2171
2172
2173
2174
2175
2176
2177
2178
2179
2180
2181
2182
2183
2184
2185
2186
2187
2188
2189
2190
2191
2192
2193
2194
2195
2196
2197
2198
2199
2200

2201
2202
2203
2204
2205
2206
2207
2208
2209
2210
2211
2212
2213
2214
2215
2216
2217
2218
2219
2220
2221
2222
2223
2224
2225
2226
2227
2228
2229
2230
2231
2232
2233
2234
2235
2236
2237
2238
2239
2240
2241
2242
2243
2244
2245
2246
2247
2248
2249
2250

2251
2252
2253
2254
2255
2256
2257
2258
2259
2260
2261
2262
2263
2264
2265
2266
2267
2268
2269
2270
2271
2272
2273
2274
2275
2276
2277
2278
2279
2280
2281
2282
2283
2284
2285
2286
2287
2288
2289
2290
2291
2292
2293
2294
2295
2296
2297
2298
2299
2300

2301
2302
2303
2304
2305
2306
2307
2308
2309
2310
2311
2312
2313
2314
2315
2316
2317
2318
2319
2320
2321
2322
2323
2324
2325
2326
2327
2328
2329
2330
2331
2332
2333
2334
2335
2336
2337
2338
2339
2340
2341
2342
2343
2344
2345
2346
2347
2348
2349
2350